I. INTRODUCTION 

Respondent Geraldine Barabin ("Respondent") 1s the personal 

representative for the estate of Henry Barabin ("Mr. Barabin" or 

"Decedent"). In the present case, Respondent seeks to recover from the 

Consolidated Petitioners in wrongful death and survival actions premised 

on Decedent's alleged asbestos exposures in the workplace. While 

recognizing that a wrongful death action generally accrues at the time of 

death, the Washington Supreme Court has long held that the rule is subject 

to a well-recognized limitation that there is no viable wrongful death cause 

of action if the decedent did not have his or her own viable cause of action 

at the time of death, such as when the decedent has allowed the statute of 

limitations to run on his or her personal injury claims: 

5477015.1 

In accord with the great weight of authority, this 
court has held that the [wrongful death] action accrues at 
the time of death, and that the statute of limitations then 
begins to run. The rule, however, is subject to a well
recognized limitation; namely, at the time of death there 
must be a subsisting cause of action in the deceased. 
Tiffany, Wrongful Death Act (2"d Ed.) § 124. Under this 
limitation, it has been held that the action for wrongful 
death is extinguished by an effective release executed by 
the deceased in his lifetime. Brodie v. Wash. Water Power 
Co., 92 Wn. 574, 159 P. 791 (1916); Mellon v. Goodyear, 
277 U.S. 335, 48 S.Ct. 541 (1928) by a judgment in his 
favor rendered during his lifetime, Littlewood v. Mayor, 
etc., ofN Y, 89 N.Y. 24, 42 Am. Rep. 271 (1882); Hecht v. 
Ohio & Miss. Ry. Co., 132 Ind. 507, 32 N.E. 302 (1892), by 
the failure of the deceased to bring an action for injuries 
within the period of limitation, Flynn v. N. Y, NH & H R. 
Co., 283 U.S. 53, 51 S.Ct. 357 (1931 ). In this latter class 
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falls the case of Calhoun v. Wash. Veneer Co., 170 Wn. 
152, 159-60, 15 P.2d 943 (1932). 

Grant v. Fisher Flouring Mills Co., 181 Wn. 576, 580-81, 44 P.2d 193 

(1935) (emphasis added) (citations omitted); accord Johnson v. Ottomeier, 

45 Wn.2d419, 422-23, 275 P.2d 723 (1954) Calhoun, 170 Wn. at 159-60. 

The Consolidated Petitioners, including Appellants, filed motions 

for summary judgment in the trial court, arguing that the claims are 

untimely. The motions were denied. Appellants respectfully urge this 

Court to reverse the King County Superior Court's denial of summary 

judgment. 

II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. The trial court erred in failing to follow binding 

Washington Supreme Court precedent holding that when the statute of 

limitations on a decedent's personal injury claim expires prior to his death, 

there is no viable wrongful death action for the same alleged acts and 

In Jury. 

2. The trial court erred in denying summary judgment on a 

personal representative's survival action where, prior to his death, the 

decedent had failed to bring a claim against a defendant within three years 

-2-
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after he knew of his cause of action and where the personal representative 

for the decedent's estate later admitted that her survival claim was barred. 1 

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

On December 18, 2006, Henry and Geraldine Barabin filed a 

personal injury claim against 22 defendants alleging that Mr. Barabin 

developed terminal mesothelioma as a result of exposure to asbestos-

containing products used at the Crown Zellerbach Mill in Camas, 

Washington. (Clerk's Papers (CP) at 51-56; 79-80). Mr. Barabin's 

mesothelioma had been diagnosed one month prior. (CP at 80). None of 

the Consolidated Petitioners was named in the 2006 lawsuit. (See CP 18-

22; 51-56). The 2006 lawsuit proceeded to trial in federal court against 

two defendants-the only two defendants named in the present wrongful 

death lawsuit who are not part of the Consolidated Petitioners. (CP 262; 

see also, Barabin v. Asten.Johnson, Inc., 740 F.3d 457, 460-62 (9th Cir. 

2014)). The jury found for the plaintiffs and awarded 10.8 million dollars 

to the Barabins, including a 1.5 million dollar award for loss of consortium 

to Ms. Geraldine Barabin. American Law of Product Liability (3rd Ed.) § 

122:69 Miscellaneous Asbestos Products: Verdicts and Settlements. 

1 The Court of Appeals is reviewing similar issues addressed in this appeal in the Deggs 
v. Asbestos Corp. case, Washington State Court of Appeals for Division I, case no. 
71297-7. The Court of Appeals heard oral argument in Deggs on March 4, 2015. 

-3-
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Defendants in the Barabin's 2006 lawsuit appealed the final 

judgment. In 2012, while the case was pending on appeal, Mr. Barabin 

passed away. (CP at 48.) In January of 2014, the Ninth Circuit Court of 

Appeals overturned the verdict and remanded the case for a new trial. 

Estate of Barabin, 740 F.3d at 467. 

On April 3, 2014, approximately three months after the Ninth 

Circuit opinion was rendered and nearly eight years after Mr. Barabin's 

mesothelioma diagnosis and resulting lawsuit, Respondent, as the personal 

representative of her husband's estate, filed a new lawsuit alleging 

wrongful death and survival claims against the two defendants who had 

gone to trial against the Barabins plus the Consolidated Petitioners. (CP at 

4-36). The complaint asserts the same allegations as the Barabin's 

personal injury lawsuit. (CP at 4-36; 51-81). The only difference in the 

wrongful death complaint is that Respondent names numerous additional 

defendants, none of whom the Barabins had sued in 2006. Respondent 

admitted in her Response to Discovery Requests that she was aware as 

early as 2007 of potential liability against one defendant, Paramount 

Supply Company. (CP 267-68; 327-29). Respondent had identified 

Paramount Supply Company as a potential defendant in 2007 after 

Plaintiffs subpoenaed documents from the Crown Zellerbach Paper Mill as 

-4-
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part of discovery in the original 2006 case. (CP 267-68; 327-29). 

Nevertheless, Respondent did not bring suit against Paramount until 2014. 

All allegations in this current case and the prior case arise out of 

Decedent's work at the Crown Zellerbach Mill. (CP 267-68; 327-29). 

Thus, any information related to asbestos-containing products present at 

that site was available for the Barabins to discover as part of the original 

case. (CP 267-68; 327-29). 

Consolidated Petitioners moved for summary judgment on all 

claims. (CP at 159-170; 265-75). The basis for summary judgment was 

the fact that neither the Decedent nor Respondent asserted a claim against 

any of the Consolidated Petitioners until more than three years after the 

Decedent indisputably knew of his disease and the cause thereof. (CP at 

269-74). Respondent conceded that the statute of limitations on her 

survival claim had run. (CP 425; CP 461). Although the trial judge 

concluded that "there are no genuine issues as to material facts," he denied 

all of the Consolidated Petitioners' motions for summary judgment on 

both survival and wrongful death claims. (CP 519). 

Appellants petitioned this court for discretionary review under 

RAP 2.3(b )(1 ), due to obvious error that renders further proceedings 

useless, and/or (b )(2), probable error that substantially alters the status quo 

or substantially limits the freedom of a party to act. (See Appellant's 

-5-
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Motion for Discretionary review, on file herein.) The Court granted 

Appellant's motion under RAP 2.3 (b )(1) because, "If Metal clad is correct 

that the action should have been dismissed as barred by the statute of 

limitations, there would be no trial and further proceedings are useless 

within the meaning of the rule." See Estate of Barabin, Respondent v. 

Meta/clad Insulation, Petitioner, case no. 72626-9-1, dated February 12, 

2015, on file herein. The Commissioner noted that the controlling law is 

clear with respect to the issue, concluding "[i]t may be that this court or 

the Supreme Court will revisit, refine, or limit the rule set out in Grant, 

Calhoun, and Ottomeier, but at this point it remains established: the statute 

of limitations on a wrongful death claim begins to run at the time of death, 

subject to the limitation that at the time of death the decedent had a viable 

claim. Discretionary review is warranted." Id. at 4 (emphasis original). 

IV. ARGUMENT 

A. Summary Judgment Standard of Review. 

Summary judgment orders are reviewed de nova. Heg v. 

Alldredge, 157 Wn.2d 154, 160, 137 P.3d 9 (2006); Greenbank Beach and 

Boat Club, Inc. v. Bunney, 168 Wn. App. 517, 522, 280 P.3d 1133 (2012). 

This Court should reverse the trial court's order denying summary 

judgment on Respondent's wrongful death and survival claims. 

-6-
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The trial court erred when it denied Petitioner's motion for 

summary judgment. Under CR 56(c), a trial court must enter summary 

judgment if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and 

admissions on file, together with any affidavits show that there is no 

genuine issue of material fact and that the moving party is entitled to 

judgment as a matter of law. The burden is on the moving party to 

demonstrate there is no genuine dispute as to any material fact and 

inferences are to be drawn against the party moving for summary 

judgment. Lamon v. McDonnell Douglas Corp., 91 Wn.2d 345, 349, 588 

P .2d 1346 (1979). The motion should be granted where the evidence leads 

a reasonable person to only one conclusion. Id. An appellate court 

engages in the same inquiry as the trial court when reviewing an order for 

summary judgment. Mountain Park Homeowners Ass 'n. v. Tydings, 125 

Wn.2d 337, 341, 883 P.2d 1383 (1994). A trial court's conclusions of law 

are reviewed de novo. Inland Foundry Co. v. Dep 't of Labor & Indus., 

106 Wn. App. 333, 340, 24 P.3d 424 (2001). Interpretation of a statute is 

also a question of law and is reviewed de novo. Cockle v. Dep 't of Labor 

& Indus., 142 Wn.2d 801, 807, 16 P.3d 583 (2001). 

In this case, there is no genuine issue of material fact that the 

statute of limitations on all of Respondent's claims has run because: (I) 

longstanding Washington Supreme Court precedent holds that a party 

-7-
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cannot maintain a wrongful death action where the decedent did not have a 

valid underlying claim at the time of death; and (2) Respondent conceded 

that her survival action is barred by the statute of limitations. Because 

there is no genuine issue of material fact that the period of limitations on 

all of Respondent's claims has expired, Consolidated Petitioners' motion 

for summary judgment should have been granted. 

B. The Trial Court Erred by Denying Summary Judgment on 
Respondent's Wrongful Death Claims Against the Consolidated 
Petitioners Because a Party May Only Maintain a Wrongful Death 
Claim If the Decedent Had a Viable Personal Injury Claim at the 
Time of Death. 

1. Washington's Wrongful Death Statute 

At common law there was no right of action for wrongful death. 

Ryan v. Poole, 182 Wn. 532, 534, 47 P.2d 981 (1935). In England, as well 

as the United States, the subject is controlled by statutes derived from 

Lord Campbell's Act. Id. The Act was the first to give rise to an action 

for wrongful death and provided that whenever the death of a person was 

caused by a wrongful act, negligence or default of another, the person who 

would be liable if death had not ensued would be liable in an action for 

damages notwithstanding the death. Id. The Washington legislature 

abrogated the common law rule by passing its version of Lord Campbell's 

wrongful death statute. The statute contemplated a cause of action for the 

-8-
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tort which produced the death, not for the death caused by the tort. RCW 

4.20.010; Brodie, 92 Wn. at 576; Flynn, 283 U.S. at 56. 

2. A Wrongful Death Claim is Predicated on a Viable Cause 
of Action in the Decedent 

Washington Supreme Court precedent holds that a personal 

representative may not bring a wrongful death claim unless a viable 

underlying cause of action could have been maintained by the decedent. 

See, e.g., Calhoun, 170 Wn. 152. This rule remains unchanged. For 

nearly 100 years, the Washington Supreme Court has allowed a wrongful 

death action only if the decedent could have maintained a suit for his 

injuries up until the time of his death. See Brodie, 92 Wn. at 576. 

In Brodie, the Washington Supreme Court held that 

notwithstanding the separate nature of the wrongful death and survival 

actions, the release and satisfaction by the person injured of his right to 

action for the injury will preclude the beneficiaries' right to bring a 

wrongful death claim. Id. 

5477015.1 

"If the deceased, in his lifetime, has done anything that 
would operate as a bar to recovery by him of damages for 
the personal injury, this will operate equally as a bar in an 
action by his personal representatives for his death. Thus a 
release by the party injured of his right of action, or a 
recovery of damages by him for the injury is a complete 
defense in the statutory action." 
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Id. (quoting Death by Wrongful Act (2d Ed. § 124)). Respondent has 

conceded that Decedent had no subsisting personal injury claim against 

the Consolidated Petitioners at the time of his death in 2012. Because 

Decedent had no viable claim against any of the Consolidated Petitioners 

at the time of his death, Respondent, as personal representative to the 

estate, cannot maintain an action for wrongful death against Consolidated 

Petitioners. 

While the wrongful death statute provides a new cause of action 

and the measure of damages that a personal representative can recover is 

different from that a decedent could recover had he survived, a wrongful 

death claim is still derivative: 

It is also generally held, and the decisions of this court are 
to the same effect, that if a deceased could not have 
recovered damages for his injury had he survived, his heirs 
or personal representatives cannot recover, because their 
right of recovery is dependent upon the right which the 
deceased would have had had he survived. If the deceased 
had no cause of action, none accrues to his heirs or personal 
representatives. 

Ryan, 182 Wn. at 536. Because Decedent could not have sustained the 

present case against Consolidated Petitioners had he survived, the trial 

court erred in denying Consolidated Petitioners' request for summary 

judgment on Respondent's wrongful death claims. 

- I 0-
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C. Washington Supreme Court Precedent as Set Out in Calhoun, 
Grant, and Johnson is Clear and Should be Applied in this Case to 
Bar Respondent's Wrongful Death Claim. 

A wrongful death action generally accrues at the time of death, not 

at the time of injury, and the statute of limitations typically begins to run 

at that time. See e.g., Dodson v. Cont'/ Can Co., 159 Wn. 589, 294 P. 265 

(1930); See also, White v. Johns-Manville, 103 Wn.2d 344, 352-53, 693 

P .2d 687 (1985). "But if a wrongful death action does not exist because 

the decedent could not have maintained an action in his own right 

immediately prior to his death, for whatever reason, then no wrongful 

death action ever accrues." Ryan, 182 Wn. at 536. 

RCW 4.16.080(2) does not create a cause of action or restore one 

that expired during the decedent's lifetime; it sets forth a time limitation in 

which statutory beneficiaries must bring suit if they have a claim. If the 

right to recover no longer exists, a statute of limitations does not revive 

that expired right. 

The running of the period of limitations on a decedent's personal 

injury claim before his or her death bars a personal representative from 

asserting an action under the wrongful death statute. Calhoun, 170 Wn. at 

159-60; Johnson, 45 Wn.2d at 422-23; Grant, 181 Wn. at 576. This rule 

applies to "situations in which, after receiving the injuries which later 

resulted in death, the decedent pursued a course of conduct which makes it 

- I I -
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inequitable to recognize a cause of action for wrongful death." Johnson, 

45 Wn.2d at 422-23. Thus, a wrongful death suit is barred "where the 

statute of limitations had run prior to decedent's death." Id. at 423 (citing 

Calhoun, 170 Wn. at 152; Grant, 181 Wn. at 576). The U.S. Supreme 

Court has long adopted the same rule in construing a federal statute. See 

Mich. Cent. R.R. v. Vreeland, 227 U.S. 59, 70 (1913). 

[A]s the foundation of the right of action [for wrongful 
death] is the original wrongful injury of the decedent, it has 
been generally held that the new action is a right dependent 
upon the existence of a right in the decedent immediately 
before his death to have maintained an action for his 
wrongful injury; .... 

Flynn, 283 U.S. at 56. The weight of authority in other 

jurisdictions reaches the same result. See Russell v. Ingersoll-Rand Co., 

841 S.W.2d 343, 352 (Tex. 1992) (wrongful death action is barred where 

statute oflimitations on decedent's injury ran before his death, which is 

the "majority rule" in the United States).2 

2 In Russell v. Ingersoll-Rand Co., 841 S.W.2d 343, 352 (Tex. 1992), the Supreme Court 
of Texas surveyed those jurisdictions that adopted the same rule, including Northington v. 
Carey-Canada, Inc., 432 So.2d 1231, 1232 (Ala. 1983) (citing Ellis v. Black Diamond 
Mining Co., 109 So. 2d 699, 702 (Ala. 1959)); Matthews v. Travelers Indem. Ins. Co., 
432 S. W.2d 485, 488 (Ark. 1968) (action not barred at time of death); Hicks v. Missouri 
Pac. R.R. Co., 181 F. Supp. 648 (W.D. Ark. 1960); Drake v. St. Francis Hosp., 560 A.2d 
1059, 1960(Del.1989);lambertv. VillageofSummit,433N.E.2d 1016(Ill.1982); 
Mason v. Gerin Corp., 647 P.2d 1340, 1344-45 (Kan. 1982); Ogden v. Berry, 572 A.2d 
I 082 (Me. 1990); Mills v. International Harvester Co., 554 F. Supp. 611, 613 (D. Md. 
1982); Larson v. Johns-Manville Sales Corp., 399 N. W.2d 1, 7 (Mich. 1986); Regie de 
/'assurance Auto. du Quebec v. Jensen. 399 N. W.2d 85 (Minn. 1987); DeRogatis v. Mayo 
Clinic, 390 N.W.2d 773 (Minn. 1986); Stang v. Hertz Corp., 463 P.2d 45, 54-55 (N.M. 
App. 1969), aff'd, 467 P.2d 14 (N.M. 1970); Natseway v. Jojola, 251P.2d274, 276 
(N.M. 1952); Kelliher v. New York Cent. & H. R.R. Co., 105 N.E. 824, 825-26 (N.Y. 

-12-
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This rule was enunciated by the Washington Supreme Court in 

1932. Calhoun, l 70 Wn. at 152. Mr. Calhoun's claim accrued in May 

1928. Id. at 159. He filed a suit for personal injuries in September 

1931-more than three years later. Id. at 153. He died October of 1931 

and his personal representative added a claim for wrongful death in 

December, 1931. Id. at 154, 160. Although the Court noted that the 

personal representative's cause of action "for wrongful death and to 

recover funeral expenses ... of course, had not accrued at the time the 

original complaint was filed," the personal representative could not 

maintain the wrongful death action because Mr. Calhoun had not brought 

a timely claim. Id. 

Calhoun was then clarified and upheld by Grant, where the Court 

explained that Calhoun had "held that the [wrongful death] action accrues 

at the time of death, and that the statute of limitations then begins to run. 

The rule however is subject to a well-recognized limitation" and "the 

action for wrongful death is extinguished ... by the failure of the deceased 

1914); Phelps v. Greco., 576 N.Y.S.2d 158, 159 (N.Y. App. Div. 1991); Eldridge v. 
Eastmoreland Gen. Hosp., 769 P.2d 775 (Or. 1989); Piukkula v. Pillsbury Astoria 
Flowering Mills Co., 42 P.2d 921, 929-31 (Or. 1935); Howard v. Bell Tel Co., 160 A. 
613, 615 (Pa. 1932), Cowgill v. Raymark Indus., Inc., 780 F.2d 324, 331 (3rd Cir. 1985); 
Whaley v. Catlett, 53 S.W. 131, 133 (Tenn. 1899) (cause of action accrues at time of 
injury; injury and death simultaneous); Street v. Consumers Mining Corp., 39 S.E.2d 271, 
277 (Va. 1946); Millerv. United States, 932 F.2d 301, 303 (4th Cir. 1991) (applying 
Virginia law); Calhoun v. Washington Veneer Co., 15 P.2d 943, 946 (Wash. 1932); 
Holifieldv. Setco Indus., Inc., 168 N.W.2d 177 (Wis. 1969) (cause of action accrued at 
time of accident, not at time of product's sale). 

-13-

5477015.1 



to bring an action for injuries within the period of limitation." Grant, 181 

Wn. at 581 (internal citations omitted). The Grant Court's explanation of 

Calhoun's holding was repeated and endorsed by the Supreme Court in 

Johnson, 45 Wn.2d at 422-23. For over 80 years, this has been the rule of 

law and the Legislature has not altered the wrongful death statute in 

response to Supreme Court precedent. 

D. The Wrongful Death Statute Interpreted by Calhoun, Grant, and 
Johnson is Identical to RCW 4.20.010 in all Material Respects. 

The language of the earlier wrongful death statute interpreted by 

the Washington Supreme Court in Calhoun, Grant, and Johnson is 

identical to the language of Washington's current wrongful death statute, 

RCW 4.20.010. Compare App. H with App. I, p. 126-27, p. 128-29.3 The 

Washington Supreme Court has repeatedly "observed that '[t]he 

Legislature is presumed to be aware of judicial interpretation of its 

enactments,' and where statutory language remains unchanged after a 

court decision the court will not overrule clear precedent interpreting the 

same statutory language." Broom v. Morgan Stanley DW Inc., 169 Wn.2d 

231, 236 P.3d 182 (2010) (quoting Reihl v. Foodmaker, Inc., 152 Wn.2d

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