No.72626-9-1

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

(King County Superior Court Cause No. 14-2-07824-2 SEA)

GERALDINE BARABIN, as Personal Representative for the Estate of HENRY BARABIN, deceased,

Plaintiff/ Respondent,

v.

ASTENJOHNSON INC., et al.,

Defendants/ Appellants.

2015 JULY OF APPEALS DIV

RESPONSE TO BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

Meredith B. Good, WSBA # 39890 BRAYTON PURCELL, LLP Attorney for Geraldine Barabin, Respondent 806 SW Broadway, Suite 1100 Portland, OR 97205 503-295-4931

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

III. ARGUMENT

A. The Case Law Does Not Support The Defendants' Position

The defendants claim that three cases, *Calhoun v*.

Washington Veneer Co., Johnson v. Ottomeier, and Grant v.

Fisher Flouring Mills, establish and affirm the rule they would like to have enforced: that the expiration of the statute of limitations on the decedent's personal injury case bars the personal representative from bringing an action on behalf of the

¹170 Wn 152, 15 P.2d 943 (1932)

²45 Wn.2d 419, 27 P.2d 723 (1954)

³181 Wn 576, 44 P.2d 193 (1935)

heirs. But those cases do not support the position they espouse.

A review of those cases shows that neither the facts, the holdings, or the policy reasons expressed support the defendants' position here.

1. Calhoun v. Washington Veneer Co.

The defendants rely extensively on the case of *Calhoun v Washington Veneer Co.*, 170 Wash. 152, 15 P.2d 943 (1932). In that case the court stated that the wrongful death claim of the spouse was barred by the running of the statute of limitations on the decedent's cause of action. As defendants note in their opening brief, we have previously distinguished *Calhoun* by its context as an employment case and the fact that the statute under which it was decided is now revoked..⁴ The court's decision in *Calhoun* is further undermined by the later case of

⁴"Both *Calhoun* and *Grant* were decided in the context of now-repealed employment laws such as the "Factory Act"[.] *Barabin v. AstenJohnson, Inc.*, 2014 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 89035 (W.D. Wash. 2014).

Gazija v. Nicholas Jerns Co., 86 Wn.2d 215, 219 (1975).

Gazija was an insurance coverage case in which the insured, a fisherman, sought to recover from the insurer the value of his fishing gear and nets lost when his boat sank. When he discovered the policy had been canceled, allegedly without his knowledge, he sued the insurer. The defendant argued that the action was barred by the statute of limitations because it had accrued at the time the policy was canceled, not at the time of the loss. The fisherman claimed his action was based in tort, not contract, and thus his statute did not begin to run until he discovered the harm. The Washington Supreme Court looked back at early cases which had addressed similar issues. Among those was Shaw v. Rogers & Rogers, 117 Wash. 161, 200 P. 1090 (1921), in which the insurance agent failed to write the policy with a solvent company and the insured found himself "uninsured" at the time a fire destroyed his building.

The [Shaw] court held the cause of action arose immediately upon failure of the defendant to write insurance with a solvent company. It concluded the action was barred by the 3-year statute of limitations and refused to hold the cause of action accrued when damages arose from the fire that destroyed the building.

Gazija, supra, 86 Wn 2d at 218.

The apparent unfairness of that result caused the Shaw court to observe:

[T]hat the amount of damages which could have been recovered had the action been brought immediately upon the breach of the duty, and the amount which was susceptible of the recovery after the fire were different, but it is not material that all the damages resulting from the act should not have been sustained at the time the breach of duty occurred, and the running of the statute is not postponed by the fact that actual or substantial damages do not occur until a later date.

Shaw v. Rogers & Rogers, supra at 163.

Looking back at other cases applying the statute of limitations in similar circumstance, and the evolving state of that law, the Supreme Court in *Gazija* stated:

Subsequent cases are not helpful in determining whether Shaw is to be considered as a tort or contract case. *Robinson v. Davis*, 158 Wash. 556, 560, 291 P. 711 (1930); *Calhoun v. Washington Veneer Co.*, 170 Wash. 152, 160, 15 P.2d 943 (1932); *Peeples v. Hayes*, 4 Wn.2d 253, 255, 104 P.2d 305 (1940). To the extent the result in *Shaw* can be ascribed to a characterization of the cause of action as one sounding in tort, we believe the result reached there is incorrect.

Gazija v. Nicholas Jerns Co., 86 Wn.2d 215, 219 (1975) (emphasis added)

The significance of this holding is that *Shaw* is one of the cases relied upon by the Supreme Court when it decided *Calhoun*. (*Calhoun v. Wash. Veneer Co., supra,* 170 Wash. at 160.

The Supreme Court's holding that to the extent *Shaw* was a tort action it was incorrectly decided, is applicable here. This is solely a tort cause of action. There is no element of contract in the facts or in the claims of the plaintiff. That means that *Shaw*, and *Calhoun*, to the extent it relies on *Shaw*,

are inapplicable here. Their holdings, that the tolling of the statute at the time of the incident affects the subsequent action, are no longer good law in Washington.

2. Johnson v Ottomeir

Reliance on *Johnson* is similarly inappropriate because, although the court discussed the effect of statutes of limitations on actions for wrongful death, the decision itself was not based on that point. Any language about the effect of the personal injury statute of limitations on the wrongful death statute was merely **dicta**.

Mr. Ottomeier killed his wife and then killed himself. A personal representative was appointed to administer both estates. Mrs. Ottomeier's son petitioned the court to be appointed representative of his mother's estate. He claimed her estate had a cause of action against the husband's estate and it would be a conflict of interest for the same individual to represent both estates. The trial court denied the petition

because the law in effect at the time prevented a wife from suing her husband. Therefore it was argued, her estate was similarly prevented from suing. Although the statute did not limit the wrongful death action in this way, on appeal, the personal representative took the position that the court had previously adopted a broad policy of exclusion preventing actions which could not have been brought by the decedent. (The same position advocated by the appellants here)

In discussing the application of its case law, the court agreed that "in construing this act, we have held that the action may be maintained 'where the deceased might have maintained it had he lived." (45 Wn 2d 419, 421) It listed *Calhoun* and *Grant v. Fisher Flouring Mills Co.*, 181 Wash. 576, 44 P. (2d) 193), as cases which barred the wrongful death action where the statute of limitations had run prior to decedent's death.

This is the only reference to a general rule of exclusion based on the statute of limitations. After that discussion, the

court went on to evaluate the exclusion claimed by the personal representative. The court explained the genesis of its decision as follows:

It was originally the common view that *Lord Campbell's Act*, 9 and 10 Vict., c. 93, § 1, which first established the right to sue for wrongful death, provided for the survival of a cause of action possessed by the deceased. It is now generally recognized, however, that the act gives to the heirs, or the personal representative on their behalf, a new right of action. Our court accepts this view. (Citations omitted)

Not having as its basis a survival statute, the action for wrongful death is derivative only in the sense that it derives from the wrongful act causing the death, rather than from the person of the deceased. (Citations omitted) Needless to say, the wife's disability to sue is personal to her, and does not inhere in the tort itself. (Citation omitted)

The wife's personal disability necessarily disappears with her death, and hence is not transferable to the personal representative, who has a new cause of action.

Thus, the Court's holding had nothing to do with the statute of limitations for initiating a wrongful death case. It

turned solely on the existence, or non-existence of the marital bar to the claim. The only statute of limitations issue addressed was the dicta in the decision explaining the exclusions the court had previously applied to bar wrongful death actions. That dicta referenced Calhoun which, as we have shown is inapposite here because of the workmen's compensation context in which it arose and the subsequent case law which has invalidated its underpinnings.

3. Grant v. Fisher Flowering Mills

The *Johnson* court's additional comment on *Calhoun*, that it was interpreted in *Grant v. Fisher Flouring Mills*, ⁵ adds nothing to the precedential value of the *Johnson v. Ottomeier* decision. Also, a closer reading of the *Grant* decision shows that it supports the plaintiff's position here rather than the defendants. The details of *Grant* were recently reported by this

⁵181 Wash 576 (1935)

court:

In Grant, a wife added a wrongful death claim to her husband's complaint while her husband's claim was pending, but after he died. Grant started working as a miller in a flour mill in June 1926. He continued working at the mill until July 26, 1930, when he stopped working because of illness. On August 19,1932, he sued his employer alleging that his illness was caused from exposure to nitricacid and chlorine gas fumes while on the job. As in *Calhoun*. Grant based his action on the factory act. Grant died on August 17, 1933, while his action was pending. Grant's wife, Dorothy, was substituted as plaintiff in Grant's lawsuit. Subsequently, Dorothy filed an amended complaint for both a survival action and a wrongful death action under Rem. Rev. Stat. § 183.

After making the determination that Grant brought his action for personal injuries within the time prescribed by the three year statute of limitations, *** allowing Dorothy to maintain a wrongful death action, the *Grant* court distinguished the result in *Calhoun*. It reasoned that because Grant brought his action for personal injuries within the time prescribed by the statute of limitations, even though he died more than three years after his cause of action accrued, he left a valid subsisting cause of action against his employer. It concluded that under the circumstances—Grant did not release his claims against his employer during his

lifetime and Dorothy brought her wrongful death action from within three years from Grant's death—there was no question that Dorothy's wrongful death action could be maintained.

Deggs v. Asbestos Corp. Limited 2015 Wash. App. LEXIS 1324, *7-9 (Wash. Ct. App. June 22, 2015)

Defendants argue here that a wrongful death cause of action may not be brought more than three years after the decedent was aware of his injury even if he has not yet died.

But *Grant* itself incorrectly applies the statutes.

What *Grant* does is equate the wrongful death action with the survival action. Requiring the decedent to have a "subsisting" cause of action makes the wrongful death cause of action a survival action. But that is not the statutory scheme in Washington

[A] wrongful death action and a survival action are distinct causes of action. The survival statutes do not create new causes of action for statutorily named beneficiaries, but instead preserve the decedent's causes of action for injuries suffered prior to death. By contrast, the wrongful death

statute governs post death damages and allows the personal representative of the decedent to sue on behalf of statutory beneficiaries for their own losses, not the decedent's losses.

*16-17 (Wash. Ct. App. June 22, 2015) Requiring a subsisting action in the decedent is the task of a survival statute. No such requirement exists in the wrongful death statute.

4. Other Cited Cases Similarly Fail to Make Defendants' Case

Defendants are fond of citing cases from other
jurisdictions which impose limitations on wrongful death
causes of action because of an inability of the decedent to sue.
(BOA at 12) But those compilations do not address the key
point for those holdings: the statutory language in place in
those jurisdictions. Our neighbor Oregon, for example,
prohibits a wrongful death suit unless the decedent had a cause
of action. But that limitation is directly stated in the statutory
language:

When the death of a person is caused by the wrongful act or omission of another, the personal representative of the decedent, . . . may maintain an action against the wrongdoer, if the decedent might have maintained an action, had the decedent lived, against the wrongdoer for an injury done by the same act or omission. (O.R.S. § 30.020.)

Obviously, in such jurisdictions, the answer to the question before this court would be different. But here the language of the statute has no similar exclusion. And the action itself is purely a creature of statute; it has no common law precedent.

According to the common law, no civil action could be maintained by a surviving spouse, child or other close relative of the deceased person against one who wrongfully caused the death.

* * *

It was with the spirit of rejecting the bases of the common law rule and its harsh effects that the wrongful death statutes were enacted. . ..

Gray v. Goodson, 61 Wn.2d 319, 324 (Wash. 1963) The language of the statute must control, and no concepts from the personal injury claim should be used to subvert the intent of the

legislature. As our Supreme Court has stated: "In resolving this issue, we are mindful that the statute, being remedial in nature, is to be liberally construed." *Gray v. Goodson*, 61 Wn.2d 319, 324 (Wash. 1963) citing *Johnson v. Ottomeier*, 45 Wn. (2d) 419, 275 P. (2d) [416] 723 (1954); and *Cook v. Rafferty*, 200 Wash. 234, 93 P. (2d) 376 (1939).

Other neighboring jurisdictions, Idaho and Utah, have recently addressed this identical issue and concluded that the new and distinct wrongful death cause of action is not impaired by a prior action brought by the decedent, or by the decedent's failure to bring an action. In *Riggs v. Georgia Pacific*, 2015 UT 17, the Utah Supreme court held that a judgment in favor of the decedent did not bar the personal representative's subsequent wrongful death action against the same defendants. And in *Castorena v. GE*, 149 Idaho 609 (Idaho 2010) the Idaho Supreme Court determined that state's wrongful death statute did not bar an action in a case in which the decedent's personal

injury statute of limitations had run. The court observed: This interpretation has also found support in the Restatement (Second) of Torts § 899 cmt. c (1979), as it pertains to the statute of limitations:

A cause of action for death is complete when death occurs. Under most wrongful death statutes, the cause of action is a new and independent one, accruing to the representative or to surviving relatives of the decedent only upon his death; and since the cause of action does not come into existence until the death, it is not barred by prior lapse of time, even though the decedent's own cause of action for the injuries resulting in death would have been barred. In some jurisdictions, however, the wrongful death acts take the form of statutes providing for the survival of the decedent's own cause of action, in which case the statute of limitations necessarily runs from the time of his original injury.

Id. at 619. Washington has no such restriction. Mrs.Barabin's action was not time barred.

Defendants' also rely on *Ryan v Poole*, 182 Wash. 532 (Wash. 1935) for the proposition that heirs cannot recover in a wrongful death action if the decedent could not recover.

(BOA 15) But *Ryan* is not a statute of limitations case. In that case, the decedent was engaged in a crime when he met his death.

Under the facts stated in the complaint, which, for the purposes of this action, must be accepted as true, the deceased was employed to do an unlawful and criminal act or acts, and, while in the course of such employment, met his death at the hands of another whose rights he was invading and against whom he was committing a criminal act. The general rule is that the courts will not aid either party in litigation growing out of criminal acts. [citations omitted] Had Emmett C. Ryan survived his injury and brought an action therefor, it is clear that he could not have prevailed, because, at the time of the injury, he was engaged in the performance of an unlawful and criminal act.

Ryan v. Poole, 182 Wash. 532, 538 (Wash. 1935)

So, when the *Ryan* court said the personal representative's right of recovery is "dependent upon the right which the deceased would have had had he survived" it meant something other than the lapse of a statute of limitations. It meant he did not have, and never had had a cause of action.

B. The Washington Appellate Courts Have Refuted Defendants' Arguments in More Recent Cases

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